#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

v.

CASE NO. 85,113

FILED

SID J. WHITE

MAR 27 1995

CLER

a court

WILLIE GREEN, JR.,

Petitioner,

Respondent.

#### PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMES W. ROGERS TALLAHASSEE BUREAU CHIEF, CRIMINAL APPEALS FLORIDA BAR NO. 325791

STEPHEN R. WHITE ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 159089

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

#

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, the State of Florida, the Appellee in the First District Court of Appeal and the prosecuting authority in the trial court, will be referenced in this brief as Petitioner, the prosecution, or the State. Respondent, Willie Green, Jr., the Appellant in the First District Court of Appeal and the defendant in the trial court, will be referenced in this brief as Respondent or his proper name "Green."

References to the opinion of the First District Court of Appeal, found in the Appendix of this brief, will be noted by its Florida Law Weekly citation.

The symbol "R" will refer to the record on appeal. The designation of "R" includes the deposition of M A K $\epsilon$ , which was part of the Supplemental Record on Appeal. Because there are multiple transcripts, which are not sequentially numbered among themselves, they will be indicated, respectively, as follows:

- TVid Transcript of video-taped interview of M A K consisting of one volume of 37 pages;
- TMoL Transcript of Motion in Limine proceedings, held January 14, 1991, consisting of one volume of 72 pages;
- TTr Transcript of Trial proceedings, held January 15 and 16, 1991, consisting of two volumes of 238 pages;
- TMoJ Transcript of Motion for Judgment of Acquittal proceedings, held January 25, 1991, consisting of one volume of 19 pages;

- 1 -

TSen Transcript of Sentencing proceedings, held February 4,

1991, consisting of one volume of 13 pages. Each symbol will be followed by the appropriate page number in parentheses.

All bold-typed emphasis is supplied unless the contrary is indicated. Italics-typed emphasis appeared in the original document unless otherwise indicated.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The State seeks review of the decision of the First District Court of Appeal, <u>Green v. State</u>, 20 Fla. L. Weekly D125 (Fla. 1st DCA Jan. 4, 1995) (attached as Appendix), that held that the evidence was insufficient for Lewd, Lascivious or Indecent Assault upon a Child (R 50) and Sexual Battery (R 49).

This case is based upon an information filed December 14, 1990 (R 31-32).

The certified question concerns the sufficiency of the victim's pre-trial statements to sustain the convictions. Due to the arguments that the State will advance <u>infra</u>, it is important to provide details of the multiple nature of the prior statements, their various settings, as well as the other evidence introduced at trial. These details will be narrated chronologically.

- 2 -

On September 21, 1990, the defense deposed the victim, M A K  $(TTr 154-55)^{1}$  who was fourteen years old and in the eighth grade at the time of the deposition (TTr 157, 159). The First District Court of Appeal's certified question focuses upon this deposition. Further details of the deposition will be related in the context of the trial, where it was introduced as substantive evidence.

In November 1991, the State notified the defense, pursuant to Section 90.803(23), Fla. Stat., of its intent to present testimony of out-of-court statement of the victim, M A K , to various named people. (R 17-18) In January 1951, the State notified the defense, pursuant to Section 90.803(23), Fla. Stat., of its intent to offer into evidence the "deposition of M A M and transcripts thereof, taken on September 21, 1990, by the Office of the Public Defender." (R 41)

On January 14, 1991, the defense filed a Motion in Limine, asking the trial court to exclude evidence of the victim's statements "to her aunt P K to John Mathers of HRS, to Helene Pomeroy (Victim Services Officer) or to any other person, to the effect that defendant engaged in sexual activity with alleged victim." The motion also requested exclusion of other evidence, such as "any mention by the State that the alleged victim was brought by her mother to the Public Defender's Office

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The portions of the pre-trial deposition that were read to the jury can be found in the transcript of the trial proceedings, at TTr 154-59. The entire deposition can be found at R 85-101 in the Supplemental Record on Appeal.

and told by her mother to tell any personnel of the Public Defender's Office that defendant had not engaged in sexual activity with her" and the transcript and videotape of the victim's deposition. (R 43-45)

The Motion in Limine was heard on January 14, 1991. (TMoL 1-71) At the end of the three and one-half hour hearing (TMoL 63), the trial court found that the statements have the implications of reliability, if the child testifies in this case. To reach this finding, the trial court observed the following regarding the victim:

- The child's mental age was about seven years old (TMoL 65);
- The child' developmental age was a maximum of about nine years old (TMoL 65);
- The child's statements to P K , C K and Julie Draughon were made under circumstances of reliability;
  - The relatively short time, that is, four days, between the crimes and the time they were reported (TMoL 66);
  - The "fairly normal" person to which the child first reported the incidents, that is, to her mother (TMoL 66);
  - The child's persistence in reporting the incidents to someone else "after her mother evidently did not believe her" (TMoL 66);
  - The trial court's extensive observation through a 35-minute (TMoL 66) videotape of "the child and her interaction with the HRS worker, or the child protection team worker" (TMoL 67);

- 4 -

- The non-suggestive, non-leading, non-threatening, nonpressured way that the child was interviewed (TMoL 67, 70-71);
- The child's nature as "extremely bashful about talking about the private parts of the body and the events that occurred" (TMoL 67-68).

The trial court summarized:

It does not seem to be the kind of child that would make up something about a subject that she didn't particularly like to talk about, given the closeness in time of the incident and the time that it was reported.

The trial court added that it also considered "the relationship of the parties," "the relationship of the child to the defendant," (TMoL 68) the ability of the child "to communicate what occurred," and the fact that she "was not pressured in any way" (TMoL 70).

The day after the Motion in Limine was heard, the evidentiary portion of the trial began. Prior to the State calling its witnesses, the trial court instructed the jury, <u>inter alia</u>: "It is your solemn responsibility to determine if the State has proved it's [sic] accusations beyond a reasonable doubt against Mr. Green." "Your verdict must be based solely on the evidence, or lack of evidence, and on the law." "It is your responsibility as jurors to decide what the facts of this case are and to apply the law to the facts." (TTr 2-3)

The State called six witnesses: Susan Barnes (an expert school psychologist, TTr 23, 25), M A. K. (the alleged victim, R

- 5 -

31, hereinafter designated as "M A. "), C K (age 24, M A 's sister, TTr 43), P K ( $\mu_1$  's sister-in-law through P<sub>4</sub> 's marriage to J K<sub>6</sub> , TTr 55-56), Julie Draughon (case coordinator for the Child Protection Team, TTr 71), and Dr. Mary Seay (pediatrician, TTr 93). The State recalled M A (TTr 107) for the purpose of introducing her deposition (TTr 105-107). Each witness's pertinent trial testimony will now be summarized.

Susan Barnes qualified, without objection, as an expert school psychologist (TTr 25). Barnes had tested M A a week prior to the trial of this case. (TTr 27) Barnes testified that M A 's IQ tested at 50, placing her "within the mildly to moderately retarded range." (TTr 26) Although M A 's chronological age was 14, she was functioning "on about a middle first grade level in reading and written language, and about a middle second grade level in mathematics." (TTr 26) M A 's condition did not interfere "with her ability to perceive and relate reality"; she was "able to communicate verbally facts and things that have occurred in the past." (TTr 27, 28)

M A testified that her date of birth was July 10, 1976, making her 14 years old at the time of the trial. (TTr 29) She testified that she attended Carter Paramore School, where she was in the eighth grade and Miss Foreman was her teacher. (TTr 29-30) She liked school. (TTr 30) At the time of the trial, M A lived with her mother, E K , and M A 's brother's and sisters at "! " (TTr 29-30, 31) M A has

- 6 -

lived there all of her life. (TTr 31) Her mother had ten children, "four girls and six boys," of which she was the second youngest. (TTr 30-31) She named the brothers and sisters who still lived with her and her mother. (TTr 31) Her father lived separately, in a location that was not within walking distance. (TTr 32) C lived close-by. (TTr 32-33)

M A knew that she was testifying at the trial "about Willie Green." (TTr 34) She has known Green "for a couple of years." (TTr 33, 34) She had "seen Willie Green before," (TTr 33) but she denied being home whenever Green was at her house (TTr 34, 38). She knew Green because her mother told her about him. (TTr 33) When asked if Green was her mother's "boyfriend," she responded, "a friend." (TTr 33-34)

M A knew how to distinguish good from bad "touches," (TTr 35-36) but she denied ever having "bad touches from Willie Green" or sex with him. (TTr 36, 38) Instead, she accused Irving McGriff of forcing her to have sex with him (McGriff). She said that McGriff bragged about it. (TTr 40) Specifically, she testified in response to the prosecutor's questions:

Q When Irving McGriff, you said, had some bad touches on you, what --

A Yes.

Q -- kind of bad touches did he --

A He forced me to have sex with him. And so, I had told my daddy. And so, and my daddy taught him. And so, he gave me five dollars not to tell nobody. I told my mama and my daddy.

So, they started talking to him. And they told -- and he started bragging about it. That he did it.

So, then he had called over my sister's house and told her that he did it. Willie ain't had nothing to do with this, just like that. Q When, after Irving McGriff gave you five dollars not to tell anybody, did you ever remember talking [to] C or Pe about Irving McGriff? A [Shakes head trom side to side.] Q And telling them he did? A Yeah, I told C . Q You told C ? A Yes. Q When you told C about Irving McGriff, did you, after that, talk to her about Willie Green doing something, the same type of thing? A I ain't said nothing about him.

(TTr 40-41) She then swore that she did not know if she had told anyone "about Willie Green having sex with" her. (TTr 41) M A specifically denied talking with the following people about having sex with Green: "any of" her "sisters," C , P

K , and "Miss J ." (TTr 38)

The State called C K , M A 's 24-year-old sister, next. (TTr 42-43) C lived three houses from where M A lived with their mother. (TTr 43) C identified Green as her mother's boyfriend from about "a year or so" prior to trial through the time of C 's testimony. (TTr 44-45)

C had seen Green at the mother's house or in the neighborhood "at different times and different days," (TTr 45) when M A was living there and when M A knew Green (TTr 45). While at C 's house, M in indicated that Irving McGriff had "messed" with her. (TTr 46) A couple of days later, C told M A i that she had heard that Green "was messing with her." (TTr 50) M A did not respond at first but then after asking M A 's bunch of times" (TTr 54), "she said he

- 8 -

[Green] was messing with her" (TTr 51). C' 's testimony continued:

She [M A ] kept saying he [Green] was messing with her, r\_ght. And I asked her was she talking about he had sexual contact with her and she said, 'Yes.' \*\*\*

She ... [said] it happened at [her mother's] home. (TTr 51) As a result, C. called P and HRS. (T 52) P K , M 's 23-year-old (TTr 64-65) sister-in-law and the daughter-in-law of M A 's mother, (TTr 55-56) testified that Green was her mother-in-law's boyfriend (TTr 57). "During the last couple of years" prior to trial, P had seen Green at the mother-in-law's house or "in and around" the neighborhood when M A was living at that house and when M A knew Green. (TTr 57-58) At the time that Green was the mother-in-law's boyfriend, he was married. (TTr 62)

In response to C 's call, (TTr 60) P asked M A about Green messing with her. M A replied that Green had put his hand "in her panties" while "feeling on her." (TTr 60, 61) M A also told P <sup>-</sup> that Green then had sex with her after "she told Willie Green to stop." These incidents occurred when M A 's mother "walked up the road" and locked M  $_{\rm P}$  in the house" while Green was inside there. (TTr 60-61)

After P talked with M A , P told C that it was none of their business, but C persisted, and they called HRS. HRS came to P 's house to interview P and C ... (TTr 61-62) M A stayed with P for about one week after the report to HRS. (TTr 66)

- 9 -

On cross-examination, P testified that the Health Department in December 1989 had recommended that M A be placed on birth control pills. (TTr 64) She also testified that she did not "get along" with her mother-in-law (TTr 64), that she had called HRS one other time when the mother-in-law hit her [the mother-in-law's] daughter with a shovel handle, and that she had seen Green at the mother-in-law's house when the mother-in-law was not there (TTr 65).

Julie Draughon was the State's next witness. She was the case coordinator for the Child Protection Team, which entailed conducting special assessments, interviewing children, and coordinating case management activities. She had held that position for a year. (TTr 71-72) Draughon was assigned the case on June 25, 1990, due to a call from an HRS child protection investigator. (TTr 72)

Draughon was present on June 26, 1990, when Dr. Wilhout attempted to examine M A . M A was cooperative "until the point that he was ready to do the genital examination." "At that point, M A became quite upset and reluctant to be examined and Dr. Wilhout chose to abandon the examination ... ." (TTr 73)

After the attempted genital examination, Draughon conducted a videotaped interview of M  $_{,}$  A  $_{,}$  (TTr 75-79) The witness authenticated the videotape, and it was introduced into evidence

- 10 -

and  $played^2$  for the jury. (TTr 79-80) There were numerous instances of "no oral response" throughout the tape. (TVid 2-36) provided Draughon some details about However, on tape, M ^ her family's living arrangements (TVid 2-7), the ten children (TVid 5), her school work, and her play activity (TVid 7-8). about a fish's eyelashes. She asked her Draughon asked M Α to identify various parts of the human body and describe their functions: eyes, nose, mouth, hand, toes. (TVid 9-12) She asked Α what a penis ("private") was "used for," and M Μ A responded that it was used to "pee." (TVid 12)

M A identified a female body part as the "private." (TVid 12-13) M A said that her teacher had previously talked to her about "good touches and bad touches." (TVid 13) M A identified various "good" touches: a kiss from Mom and her Dad patting her on the back. (TVid 13) She identified as "bad touches" someone hitting her hard on the shoulder or touching her on her "private." (TVid 14) She said that her mom gave her a bad "touch" when she hit her. (TVid 15)

M A described Green as her mother's boyfriend. She said that Green touched her twice. (TVid 17) Her mother was drunk. (TVid 17) The first time her mother had locked her in her room, but Green "had got the keys and unlocked the door." He "said go ahead and let him," and he was "feeling on" her, "stuck his hand

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The court reporter did not transcribe the tape as it was played. (TTr 80) However, it has been transcribed for the record on appeal at TVid 1-37.

down like this," on top of her clothes. (TVid 18-20) He kissed her on the lips. (TVid 20) The second time was at night, when M AI asked her mother to lock her bedroom door because "they" were drinking, and they fight and "cuss" when they drink. (TVid 21-22) Her mother drank every day. (TVid 23) "They hit me (inaudible) drinking." (TVid 22)

M A described the second incident. She heard her door open, and she called her mom, but she "was snoring because she was drunk. And he started feeling on me." He was in his underwear. She initially had her clothes on. She went in the kitchen, where he "got on top" of her. At first, he touched her with his "private" while she had her clothes on, but he repeatedly "rolled," "grabbed" her, and pulled her clothes off as she "pulled them back up." At some point, Green finally put his "private" inside her "private." (TVid 24-27) She did not see "anything come out of his private" because she said that she was asleep. (TVid 28)

M A . did not affirm questions regarding whether Green had put his "private on any other parts of" her, whether he made her touch him anywhere, whether he put his mouth on her, and whether he made her put her "mouth on him anywhere." (TVid 28)

She also said that Irving McGriff had also pulled down her pants and put his "private" in her "private." She told him to stop. (TVid 31-32)

She indicated that she informed her mother, J , and P of the incidents with Green. (TVid 29) When M ... told her

- 12 -

mother, she "didn't believe it" and "cussed her out"; she then told her father. (TVid 20, 26)

M A said that P told her to "tell the truth." (TVid 35)

After the videotaped interview, Draughon "contacted Dr. Mary Seay, who is another pediatrician who contracts for the Child Protection Team, thinking that M A might be more comfortable with a female physician" (TTr 85). Draughon viewed Seay's physical examination of M A on June 28, 1990. (TTr 85)

On cross-examination, Draughon said that the Child protection Team was under contract with HRS and conducted "interviews at the request of HRS." (TTr 85-86) In response to a question suggesting that the Team's function was to punish persons accused of child abuse "in conjunction with the State Attorney's Office and HRS, Draughon testified that the Team provided "an assessment," weighed the facts as they are presented to the Team, and made "a recommendation based on our assessment of the credibility of the child's statements." She indicated that there were "certain factors that do enhance credibility that we look for." (TTr 88-89) Draughon indicated that "in most cases, when a child provides disclosure, it is truthful" (TTr 88) Draughon said that she would try several techniques prior to accepting "no." (TTr 87) Out of the approximately 30 interviews Draughon had conducted by the time of trial, there was one that she still thought was questionable whether abuse occurred. (TTr 87-88)

- 13 -

Reasoning that the defense had "opened the door," the trial court allowed the prosecutor to ask Draughon on redirect exam about the factors bearing upon a child's credibility. Draughon said she could provide the names of supportive researchers. (TTr 90-91) After discussing several factors, Draughon outlined typical stages of sexual abuse: the period of actual sexual interaction, secrecy, disclosure, and suppression (recantation). (TTr 91-92)

Dr. Mary Seay, a pediatrician and expert (TTr 93-94), was the State's next witness. She was a consultant for the Child Protection Team, which entailed frequently evaluating "children or teenagers who are suspected of being abused or neglected." (TTr 93) Dr. Seay conducted a general and genital physical examination of M A on June 28, 1990, in the doctor's office. (TTr 94-95) The doctor found "no lesions or sores or discharge."

However, the doctor found "the vaginal opening" to be unusually large. Due to the reported non-use of insertable material, such as tampons, Dr. Seay concluded that the size of the vaginal opening was consistent with "some form of vaginal penetration" (TTr 96), that is, vaginal sexual activity (<u>See</u> TTr 96-97). This conclusion was consistent with M A 's disclosure that she had "sexual intercourse on three separate occasions, involving two separate men, with the most recent incident reported "to have been eight days prior to" the doctor's examination of M A . (TTr 96)

- 14 -

Given the gap of time since the last incident, the doctor did not "expect to find any sperm or chemical changes in the vagina." Also, the physical examination "would not be able to pinpoint any particular perpetrator." (TTr 96-97) On cross-examination, Dr. Seay added that her examination of M A could not pinpoint "when the alleged sexual activity occurred." (TTr 97)

After lengthy debate among the parties and the trial court (TTr 98-106), the trial court instructed the jury as follows:

Members of the jury, before we begin, I want to remind you of a point of law that you will hear about later. And particularly, in connection with the testimony of Julie Draughon.

And that is, and you will be getting an instruction on this at the close of the trial, that, you, as jurors, have the sole responsibility to determine the credibility of witnesses in this case.

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