v.

CASE NO. 85,113

WILLIE GREEN, JR.,

Respondent.

### RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

CAROL ANN TURNER ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE SUITE 401 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT FLA. BAR NO. 243663

###

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

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The First District Court of Appeal was correct in its ruling that there was insufficient evidence to convict Green; it was incorrect, however, in allowing the use of a discovery deposition taken pursuant to rule 3.220(h) to be used as substantive evidence. The only other evidence against Green was out-of-court statements made by the alleged victim, a mildly to moderately retarded girl who had recanted her accusation against Green, while maintaining her accusation against another man. Neither federal nor Florida law supports such a use of discovery depositions, although depositions taken to perpetuate testimony under rule 3.190(j) may be used in such a manner under certain conditions. This Court should affirm its previous rulings that discovery depositions may be used for impeachment or contradiction only.

#### ARGUMENT

### ISSUE PRESENTED

WHEN AN ALLEGED VICTIM OF CHILD SEXUAL ABUSE RECANTS AT TRIAL, DOES HER PRIOR INCONSISTENT STATEMENT, ADMISSIBLE PURSUANT TO SECTION 90.801(2)(a), FLORIDA STATUTES, CONSTITUTE SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SUSTAIN A CONVICTION WHEN THE ONLY OTHER EVIDENCE OF THE DEFENDANT'S GUILT IS OTHER PRIOR INCONSISTENT STATEMENTS MADE BY THE VICTIM, WHICH HAVE BEEN FOUND TO BE RELIABLE AND ARE ADMISSIBLE PURSUANT TO SECTION 90.803(23)(a), FLORIDA STATUTES?

Judge Barfield, writing for the majority of the First District Court of Appeal, declared that discovery depositions are admissible as substantive evidence under section 90.801(2)(a), Florida Statutes. That section provides:

(2) A statement is not hearsay if the declarant testifies at the trial or hearing and is subject to cross examination concerning the statement and the statement is:

(a) Inconsistent with his testimony and was given under oath subject to the penalty of perjury at a trial, hearing, or other proceeding or in a deposition;

Judge Barfield did not discuss any of the Florida cases which have worked to correlate the rules of discovery with the rules of evidence, [other than <u>State v. Moore</u>, 452 So. 2d 559 (Fla. 1984), which permitted a prior inconsistent statement given under oath to a grand jury to be used as substantive evidence where the witness testified and was subject to crossexamination], and the opinion with its certified question seems to assume that the word "deposition" in subparagraph (a) includes discovery depositions conducted under Rule 3.220(h), Fla.R.Crim.P., and is not limited to depositions to perpetuate testimony conducted under Rule 3.190(j). That presumption is contrary to judicial interpretation, which culminated in this Court's decision in <u>Rodriguez v. State</u>, 609 So. 2d 493 (Fla. 1992); and is contrary to Article I, Section 16 the Florida Constitution providing for confrontation of one's accusers <u>at</u> <u>trial</u>, and Amendment Six to the United States Constitution.

The Respondent agrees with the First District Court of Appeal that there was insufficient evidence to sustain a conviction; however, he is unable to embrace the aberrational holding of the majority opinion that discovery depositions may be used as substantive evidence, believing that to be error. Therefore, he is compelled to separate the certified question into sub-issues in order to present it properly to this Court for response:

> (1) May a discovery deposition taken under the provisions of Rule 3.220(h), Fla.R.Crim.P. ever be used as substantive evidence;
> (2) Is a prior inconsistent statement sufficient to sustain a conviction of guilt where the only other corroborating evidence is hearsay admissible under section 90.803(23)(a), Florida Statutes?
> (3) Does recantation of an alleged victim make him or her "unavailable" for purposes of admitting out-of-court statements under the provisions of section 90.803(23)(a), Florida Statutes?

Those sections will be discussed separately.

(1) MAY A DISCOVERY DEPOSITION TAKEN UNDER THE PROVISIONS OF RULE 3.220(h), FLA.R.CRIM.P. EVER BE USED AS SUBSTANTIVE

### EVIDENCE?

This Court has uniformly forbidden the use of discovery deposition testimony as substantive evidence in criminal cases, both before and after the adoption of the Florida Evidence Code, and on more than one legal principle. Shortly before the adoption of the new evidence code in Florida, this Court addressed the issue of deposition testimony as substanive evidence in the courtroom in the case of <u>State v. Basiliere</u>, 353 So. 2d 820 (Fla. 1978).

In <u>Basiliere</u>, the alleged victim was deposed by the defense attorney pursuant to Rule 3.220(d), Fla.R.Crim.P., as happened here. The alleged victim in <u>Basiliere</u> subsequently died of natural causes, and the state moved to use the deposition testimony as evidence in the defendant's trial.

This Court examined the defendant's right to confront adverse witnesses in the context of the Constitution of the State of Florida, Rule 3.220(h), Fla.R.Crim.P., which provides for discovery depositions, and Rule 3.190(j), Fla.R.Crim.P., which provides for depositions to perpetuate testimony. The <u>Basiliere</u> Court said:

> . . . when the defendant sought discovery through means of deposition, it was only to ascertain facts upon which the charge was based. Being unaware that this deposition would be the only opportunity he would have to examine and challenge the accuracy of the deponent's statements, defendant could not have been expected to conduct an adequate cross-examination as to matters of which he first gained knowledge at the taking of the deposition. (Id. at 824-25).

> > -7-

The <u>Basielere</u> Court cited with approval the decision in <u>Chapman v. State</u>, 302 So. 2d 136 (Fla. 2d DCA 1974), which found that "[t]he use of a deposition, taken in the involuntary absence of a defendant, as evidence against him violates the defendant's right to be personally present during his trial and his Sixth Amendment right to confront witnesses." (<u>Id.</u> at 823).

Since the <u>Basielere</u> decision and the <u>Chapman</u> decisions, the Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure were amended, <u>forbidding</u> the defendant's presence at a discovery deposition except on stipulation of the parties or on court order for good cause shown. Rule 3.220(h)(6), Fla.R.Crim.P. Therefore, the language of <u>Chapman</u> is even more vital today to an assessment of a criminal defendant's rights of confrontation.

Green was not permitted to be present during the deposition of the alleged victim; his absence was involuntary and the <u>Chapman/Basielere</u> decisions establish that his rights under the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution were violated. As this was Green's <u>only</u> opportunity to crossexamine his accuser, his rights to confrontation at trial guaranteed by Article I, Section Sixteen of the Constitution of the State of Florida were also violated.

Judge Ervin, in his sound dissent below, avoids the constitutional issue by commencing his examination of this Court's rulings after <u>Basielere</u>. He notes that <u>State v. James</u>, 402 So. 2d 1169 (Fla. 1981), was based on the rules regarding

- 8 -

impeachment of witnesses, and that the <u>James</u> decision was recently reaffirmed by this Court:

> In State v. James, 402 So. 2d 1169 (Fla. 1981), the supreme court broadly stated that discovery depositions are not admissible as substantive evidence absent compliance with rule 3.190(j), and based its holding not on any perceived violation of the confrontation clause, but on certain language of rule 3.220(h), providing that discovery depositions 'may be used by any party for the purpose of contradicting or impeaching the testimony of the deponent as a witness.' Thus, the court interpreted the rule as precluding the use of discovery depositions at criminal trials for any purpose other than for impeachment or contradiction. The James decision was recently reaffirmed by the Florida Supreme Court in <u>Rodriguez v.</u> State, 609 So. 2d 493, 499 (Fla. 1992), wherein the court, in refusing to extend the rule which allows the use of discovery depositions as substantive evidence in civil cases to criminal cases, noted that because the rules of civil procedure do not provide an exception to the common law rule excluding depositions as hearsay, the evidence code may provide such an exception in civil proceedings. <u>Id.</u> at 498. The court continued, however, that a similar result was not warranted in criminal cases 'because greater latitude for the use of depositions in civil cases exists by virtue of Rule of Civil Procedure 1.330 which is much broader than the Rules of Criminal Procedure that provide for the use of deposition testimony.' Id. See also [cites omitted]. Green, 20 Fla.L.Weekly D125, 126 (Fla. 1st DCA Jan. 4, 1995).

Judge Ervin then summarized his opinion very simply: "If the rules of criminal procedure do not provide a basis for the admission as substantive evidence of discovery depositions, then application of the common law forbids their use for such purposes." (<u>Green</u>, at D126). Judge Ervin suggested that, until this court adopts the same position as federal courts, <u>i.e.</u>, allowing the use of discovery depositions as substantive evidence in criminal trial, the majority should have followed the case law of Florida. He used the phrase "parallel provisions," implying a similarity which does not exist. This statement of a respected judge demonstrates the danger in a slavish modelling of state law upon federal models: even state jurists forget or overlook the dynamic differences between the federal and state codes of evidence and rules of procedure.

While it is true that the Florida rules of <u>evidence</u> are closely patterned after the federal model, the rules of criminal procedure are not. Florida rules of discovery in criminal cases are broader, tending away from "trial by ambush" towards the notion that justice for all is better served when both sides are aware of the strengths and weaknesses of the other's case.

Compare, for example, the federal rule governing depositions, which states, in pertinent part:

Rule 15. **Depositions**. a WHEN TAKEN. Whenever <u>due to exceptional</u> <u>circumstances of the case it is in the</u> <u>interest of justice that the testimony</u> <u>of a prospective witness of a party be</u> <u>taken and preserved for use at trial</u>, <u>the court may upon motion of such party</u> <u>and notice to the parties order that</u> <u>testimony of such witness be taken by</u> <u>deposition</u> . . . (e.s.)

with the Florida rule:

Rule 3.220. Discovery.

(h) Discovery Depositions. (1) Generally. At any time after the filing of the indictment or information the defendant may take the deposition upon oral examination of any person who may have information relevant to the offense charged. . . . (e.s.).

It is unlikely that this Court would embrace federal rulings regarding the use of depositions as substantive evidence while the generative philosophy of the Florida rules of discovery is antithetically opposed to that of the federal rules. With that caveat in mind, then, Judge Ervin's dissent is demonstrated to be the only opinion below which conforms with controlling case law.

> (2) IS A PRIOR INCONSISTENT STATEMENT SUFFICIENT TO SUSTAIN A CONVICTION OF GUILT WHERE THE ONLY OTHER CORROBORATING EVIDENCE IS HEARSAY ADMISSIBLE UNDER SECTION 90.803(23)(a), FLORIDA STATUTES?

The First District Court of Appeal invites this Court to carve out an exception to its ruling in <u>State v. Moore</u>, 485 So. 2d 1279 (Fla. 1986), by allowing convictions to be based on prior inconsistent statement in cases where a child is alleged to be the victim of sexual abuse. Respondent urges the Court to hold firm to its stand in <u>Moore</u>.

In <u>Moore</u>, this Court relied upon the federal decision in <u>United States v. Orrico</u>, 599 F.2d 113 (6th Cir. 1979). The <u>Orrico</u> court noted the change in the Federal Rules of Evidence which permitted "a very broad standard of admissibility with the goal of placing all relevant evidence before the trier of fact" (at 117).

-11-

The <u>Orrico</u> court stated that, while the new rules were under consideration by Congress, "objection was made that admitting prior inconsistent statements as substantive evidence raised the possibility that a person might be convicted solely upon such evidence." (<u>Id.</u> at 118) The First District appears to believe that hearsay found to be admissible under section 90.803(23)(a) should be sufficient to give a prior inconsistent statement enough corroboration to support a conviction.

One does not have to pursue this course very far to reach the danger zone. The state has presumed through this case that M.K.'s mother manipulated her into a recantation. A far more likely conclusion, based on the facts, is that the child was instead manipulated into the initial accusation of Willie Green and then reverted to the truth.

M.K., a mildly to moderately retarded girl operating at a level consistent with first or second grade children (TTr 26) related to her mother an incident that happened while M.K. was staying at her father's house involving a man named Irving McGriff.

From the witness stand, M.K. testified that her mother had talked to Irving McGriff and gone to the police and told the police that if they were unable to get Irving McGriff, she would get him herself (TTr 39).

M.K. testified that Irving McGriff had "called over to my sister's house and told her he did it." (TTr 40). The sister, C  $\kappa_{\epsilon}$ , testified that M.K. did tell her that Irving

-12-

McGriff had "messed with her" and that she next spoke with M.K. a couple of days later (TTr 40). C didn't report this incident to the authorities, nor discuss it with her mother.

The sister began questioning M.K. about Green--not about McGriff--and said that M.K. "eventually" told her that Green had messed with her at her mother's home after she had asked her a "bunch of times" (TTr 51-52; 54). C Ke did not call HRS or her mother; she called her sister-in-law, F K 1, who had been on the outs with M.K.'s mother for ten years. After a couple more days had passed, the two called HRS (TTr 53; 65-66). M.K. stayed in F 's home for a week after the call to HRS, and then went back to her mother's home (TTr 66).

M.K. gave the facts of the McGriff attack in an unabashed, straight-forward manner:

He forced me to have sex with him. And so, I had told my daddy. And so, and my daddy taught him. And so, he gave me five dollars not to tell nobody. I told my mama and my daddy. So, they started talking to him. And they told--and he started bragging about it, that he did it. So, then he had called over my sister's house and told her that he did it.

(TTr 40). Compare her interview statement about alleged assaults by Green which has, by contrast, a dream-like, insubstantial quality: she said her mother had locked her in her room, but Green got the keys and unlocked the door. He "said go ahead and let him" and he was "feeling on her" and put his hand on top of her clothes. He kissed her on the lips.

-13-

(TVid 17-23).

And, she said she heard her door open, she called her mom, who was snoring and didn't wake up. M.K. said she had her clothes on, but that Green was in his underwear. She went in the kitchen, and kept pulling her clothes back up, as he tried to take them off. Eventually, she said Green put his private inside her private while the two were on the kitchen floor, but she didn't see anything come out of his private because she was asleep (TVid 22-28).

Consider that when M.K. told her mother about the sexual battery by Irving McGriff, the mother went directly to McGriff and then to the police, and told the police if they wouldn't get him, she would. These are not the actions and words of a woman who would cover up for a boyfriend who had abused her daughter. These are the actions and words of a woman who was ready to defend her daughter against the world.

Consider that when M.K. told her sister about the sexual battery by Irving McGriff, her sister did nothing, but after a couple of days, began to ask M.K. if <u>Green</u> had ever messed with her, and M.K. "eventually" said that he had. The sister did not confront McGriff or Green, or take the news to her mother. She called her sister-in-law, and after a couple of more days had passed, the two decided to call HRS. M.K. stayed with her sister for a week, but was returned to her mother's home.

A far different picture then emerges of the deposition testimony (the prior inconsistent statement) and the

-14-

reliability of the hearsay statements made prior to trial. The picture is no less sordid, but these facts appear firm:

1. M.K. was sexually battered by Irving McGriff, and reported this to her mother.

2. Her mother reported this to the police, and threatened self-help if the police did not take care of the matter.

3. A sister and sister-in-law heard of the McGriff matter, but made no reports.

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